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ADDENDUM No. 1 

RFP No. 17-05 

Solid Waste Transfer, Transport and Disposal Services 

Due Date and Time: March 16, 2017 at 2:00 P.M. (Local Time) 

The following changes, additions, and/or deletions shall be made to the Request for Proposal for 
Solid Waste Transfer, Transport and Disposal Services RFP No. 17-05 on which proposals are 
to be received on/or before March 16, 2017 by 2:00 P.M. (local time). 

The information contained herein shall take precedence over the original documents and 
all previous addenda (if any), and is appended thereto. This Addendum includes one 
hundred and sixteen (116) pages. 

Offeror is to acknowledge receipt of this Addendum No. 1, including all attachments in its 
Proposal by so indicating in the proposal that the addendum has been received. Proposals 
submitted without acknowledgement of receipt of this addendum will be considered 
nonconforming. 

The following forms provided within the RFP Document must be included in submitted 
proposal: 

•City of Ann Arbor Non-Discrimination Ordinance Declaration of Compliance
•City of Ann Arbor Living Wage Ordinance Declaration of Compliance
•Vendor Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form

Proposals that fail to provide these completed forms listed above upon proposal 
opening will be deemed non-responsive and will not be considered for award. 

I.  CORRECTIONS/ADDITIONS/DELETIONS 

Changes to the Bid documents which are outlined below are referenced to a page or Section in 
which they appear conspicuously.  The Bidder is to take note in its review of the documents and 
include these changes as they may affect work or details in other areas not specifically referenced 
here. 

Section/Page(s) Change 

Attachments City of Ann Arbor Living Wage Ordinance Declaration of 
Compliance (Attachment C, Form LW-2) and Living Wage Poster 
(Attachment F, Form LW-1), should be replaced with the versions 
provided in this Addendum.

(This Space Intentionally Left Blank) 
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II. QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS 
 
The following Questions have been received by the City.  Responses are being provided in 
accordance with the terms of the RFP.  Respondents are directed to take note in its review of the 
documents of the following questions and City responses as they affect work or details in other 
areas not specifically referenced here. 
 
Question 1: I'd like clarification on the following: 

Regarding the Vactor Soil Materials, are the analytical's classified as Street 
Sweepings or as Grit Screening, or under a sludge analytical?  Please advise. 

Response 1: Waste profile information on the Vactor/Soil Material is provided in Appendix E4 of 
the RFP. The waste profile provides information on the physical characteristics of 
the material. Laboratory analytical testing was not performed on the Vactor/Soil 
Material. 

 
Question 2: In regards to RFP#17-05, I have the following questions: 

Does waste collected under the City’s commercial waste franchise agreement 
come to the transfer station? 
If so, is this material contractually delivered to the transfer station and will it remain 
as part of the volumes for this site under the next transfer station contract? 

Response 2: Waste collected from the Commercial Franchise is contractually directed under the 
franchise agreement to the Transfer Station. The current franchise agreement 
expires on June 30, 2019. The City anticipates that Commercial Franchise waste 
will continue to be directed to the Transfer Station in future franchise agreements. 

 
Question 3: With the commercial franchise contract coming up in a couple of years, will this 

waste continue to be delivered to the transfer station under the next commercial 
franchise contract? 

Response 3: See Question 2.  
 
Question 4: Can you provide a copy of the current applicable contracts for the transfer station 

and WWTP services? 
Response 4: Please see attached hereto: 

WM Short Term Operation of Ann Arbor Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) and 
Waste Transfer Station (TS) 
WM Commercial Refuse Collection Contract 
WM Solid Waste Disposal 

 
Question 5:  The transfer station has several pieces of “mobile” equipment including an 

excavator, front end loader, and a spotter truck for trailers.  Does this equipment 
belong to the current contractor? 

Response 5: The excavator and front end loader are owned by the City and are not available to 
the new Contractor (see Question 25). The spotter truck for trailers is owned by 
the current vendor/ or subcontracted vendor. 

 
Question 6: Has the City experienced any problems, concerns, or violations associated with 

storm water runoff from the site to the nearby wetlands?  Has the City or any 
contractors operating the site had any infrastructure issues? 
If so, can you please describe these matters in further detail? 

Response 6: The City has not had any problems, concerns or violations with the storm water 
runoff from the site into the nearby wetlands.  The issue the City has had with 
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infrastructure is the Grinder Pump is not functioning, and the drain in the middle of 
the tipping floor has been filled with concrete.  The City is planning to repair both 
items, at the City’s cost. 

 
Question 7: Is there any routine maintenance performed by either the contractor or the City of 

Ann Arbor associated with the stormwater infrastructure? 
Response 7: The City installed and provides inlet filters for the drains and has scheduled the 

storm water drains for quarterly cleaning, but they may be cleaned as needed, if 
they are not draining properly when reported by the vendor. However – the vendor 
will be responsible for daily facility inspections/walkthroughs to address 
stormwater management onsite.  If there are issues that need corrective action, it 
is the vendor’s responsibility to notify the City immediately.  
Monthly/Quarterly/Annual inspections will be completed collaboratively with a City 
staff person as the lead.   

 
Question 8: Is it the City’s responsibility to maintain the transfer station stormwater pollution 

prevention plan? 
Response 8: The Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) is implemented as a 

collaborative partnership between the City and the vendor.  Physical and Structural 
improvements are the responsibility of the City.  Required staff training will be 
facilitated by the City; however, the vendor is required to attend these trainings.  
The vendor will be responsible for daily facility inspections/walkthroughs to 
address stormwater management onsite.  If there are issues that need corrective 
action, it is the vendor’s responsibility to notify the City immediately.  
Monthly/Quarterly/Annual inspections will be completed collaboratively with a City 
staff person as the lead. 

 
Question 9: There does not appear to be a bid bond required for this response.  Is this correct?  

If a bid bond is required, what is the amount? 
Response 9: A Bid Bond is not required for this RFP.  
 
Question 10: Page 23 part C – Preparation of Proposals: will proposals be accepted if they are 

placed in 3 ring binders?  
Response 10: Yes, 3 ring binders would be acceptable. 
 
Question 11: Appendix A: General Services Agreement part VII – the performance bond 

appears to be 50% of the total amount.  Since there is not a fixed amount of units 
associated with this contract, will the City agree simply on 50% of the annual 
amount or would you desire a specific “target” number of units to base the 
performance bond on? 

Response 11: The amount of the performance bond will be established at 50% of the first-year 
value of the Contract based on: 1) the unit prices proposed by the successful 
contractor; and, 2) the following unit quantities: 
TS Garbage   = 59,000 tons 
Dewatered centrifuge cake = 9,600 tons 
WTTP (scum/grit/screenings) = 56 container pulls (10-yard containers) 
WTTP (refuse service) = 12 months of service 
Street-sweeping material = 1,800 tons 
Vactor/soil materials  = 5,500 tons 
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Question 12: The sample agreement does not appear to specifically address the services in 
question. Is the City willing to sign an alternate contract such as a special waste 
services agreement? 

Response 12: The following has been added to section 1:  Add to Appendix A: General Services 
Agreement under I. Definitions: “Contract and contract documents are defined as 
this contract, RFP Document and all issued addenda. In case of a conflict among 
the contract documents listed below in any requirement(s), the requirement(s) of 
the document listed first shall prevail over any conflicting requirement(s) of a 
document listed later. (1) Contract, (2) Addendum in reverse order and (3) RFP.” 
The City would not be willing to sign an alternate contract such as a special waste 
services agreement. 
 

Question 13: Will the City allow for negotiation of the scope of services document as key terms 
are missing from the Services Agreement? 

Response 13: No, See also response to answer 12. 
 
Question 14: Would the City indemnify, defend and save Contractor harmless from and against 

all claims that result from any acts or omissions by the City with respect to the 
Transfer Station before the term of this agreement? 

Response 14: No, the City cannot speculate regarding claims that might be made, or make 
commitments regarding unknown claims.  

 
Question 15: Would the City make the option to extend the services agreement a mutual one?  

Currently, the City has the sole option to extend. 
Response 15: Renewals will be unilateral to City. 
 
Question 16: Would the City consider the following revisions to the General Services 

Agreement: Appendix A: 
Section VI.A – Strike “documentation satisfactory  to the City demonstrating it has 
obtained the policies and endorsements” and replace with “an Acord certificate of 
insurance to evidence the insurance cover” 

Response: No 
Section VI. B – Strike “admitted and authorized” and replace with “approved”. 

Response: No 
Exhibit C – first paragraph – revise last sentence to read: The certificates of 
insurance and required blanket form endorsements shall meet the following 
minimum requirements. 

Response: No 
Exhibit C: Part A.2 – revise Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01 07 98 to read 
“Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01 04 13 

Response: Please see the existing “or current equivalent” language.  
Exhibit C: Part A.3 – revise Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01 07 97 to read 
“Insurance Services Office form CG 00 01 10 13 

Response: Please see the existing “or current equivalent” language.  
Exhibit C: Part A.4 – revise section to read as follows: Contractor Pollution Liability 
Insurance with minimum limits of $2,000,000 per claim. The City of Ann Arbor shall 
be an additional insured. 

Response: No 
 
Question 17: Exhibit C: Part C – revise section to read as follows: Documentation must provide 

and demonstrate a 30 day written notice of cancellation in favor of the City of Ann 
Arbor (except for worker’s compensation). Further, the Acord certificate must 
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explicitly state the following: (a) the policy number: name of insurance company; 
name and address of the agent or authorized representative; name and address 
of insured; project name; policy expiration date; and specific coverage amounts.  
Contractor shall furnish the City with Acord certificates of insurance and blanket-
form endorsements prior to commencement of any work.  If any of the above 
coverages expire by their terms during the term of this contract, the contractor shall 
deliver proof of renewal and/or new policies to the Administering Service Area/Unit 
at least ten days prior to the expiration date. 

Response 17: No 
 
Question 18: Is the City willing to extend the due date of the RFP response? 
Response 18: Not at this time. 
 
Question 19: Who is the current service provider for the Waste Transfer Facility and the 

Wastewater Treatment Plant? 
Response 19: Waste Management 
 
Question 20: Transfer Station 

As related to security deposit or bonding against damage or condition of the 
building upon return of the operation to AA, as we see no definition in this area are 
there any cash or bonding requirements pertaining to this? 

Response 20: The City does not as part of this RFP, but leaves the right to negotiate as part of 
the final contract if deemed necessary. 

 
Question 21: I noted in Addendum 2 RFP No. 980 dated October 13, 2016 volumes indicated 

under the General Services Agreement there was to be an assessment for the 
repair and / or reconditioning of the transfer station, did the actual repairs ever take 
place and what provision is there for the repairs should they have not taken place. 

Response 21: Please see question 6, as noted in the RFP page 16, C. Requirements, (k) Building 
repairs will be completed by the City at the City’s cost and discretion, and any 
electrical, concrete, or building damage by the Contractor will be repaired at the 
Contractor’s sole expense. RFP 980 does not pertain to RFP# 17-05. 

 
Question 22:  As related Section II, Scope of Services, C, paragraph d: Third Party waste 

acceptance, while the bid specifications indicate MSW, is there objection to, or 
would the City at any time ever entertain or give consideration to receiving C & D 
or Commercial Waste at the Transfer Facility located at 4130 Platt Road?  

Response 22: The City would object to C& D waste. Section II.C.1.d (page 15) states “Third-party 
waste may not include hazardous or special waste, construction and demolition 
debris, or yard waste.” 

  
Question 23: Section II Scope B1B as well at C1 O references the subject of beneficial reuse of 

glass that it is "hauled by others" please explain "hauled by others". 
Response 23: Hauled by others, for example but not limited to, MRF operator, or their 

subcontracted parties. 
 
Question 24: At the City of Ann Arbor Transfer Facility located at 4130 Platt Road, in terms of 

operational capacity, what is the maximum throughput engineered into the design 
of the facility?  

Response 24: As per the RFP, page 15, C. Requirements, (d) all waste operations transfer 
operations are conducted entirely within the TS building…(i) Maintain the facility in 
a clean, orderly condition.  Litter to be collected daily or more frequently as 
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necessary, including removal of litter from trees, fencing, exterior grounds and 
surrounding woods.  All waste is to be removed from the tipping floor at the end of 
each operating day.  Four (4) loaded transfer vehicles may be staged onsite at the 
end of the operating day if the loads cannot be transported to the disposal facility 
prior to the closure time of the disposal facility. 

Question 25: As related to loading equipment currently in place and presumably owned by the 
City of Ann Arbor as referenced in the Fall RFP documents, would there be any 
interest in selling such equipment to the successful bidder?  

Response 25: City equipment that is no longer needed is sold at auction, RFP# 17-05 was issued 
in March, 2017, and any RFP documents from the Fall of 2016 pertain to other 
contracts. 

Question 26: Bonding 
There was no indication of a Bid or Performance Bond Requirement, further as 
related operation of the Transfer Station are there any?  

Response 26: See answer 9 and 11.  

Question 27:  Contract 
On any term beyond the initial term, more specific any renewal term so not to 
assume, will mutual agreement be required for renewal or is it solely at the 
discretion of the City of Ann Arbor?  

Response 27: See Answer 15. 

Question 28: Will the city extend the due date one additional week? 
Response 28: Not at this time. 

Question 29: Will the city provide a standard fuel adjustment factor methodology that will be 
used for all proposers? 

Response 29: No 

Question 30: To what extent is the operator responsible for the requirements of the storm water 
pollution prevention plan. 

Response 30: The Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) is implemented as a 
collaborative partnership between the City and the vendor.  Physical and Structural 
improvements are the responsibility of the City.  Required staff training will be 
facilitated by the City; however, the vendor is required to attend these trainings. 
The vendor will be responsible for daily facility inspections/walkthroughs to 
address stormwater management onsite.  If there are issues that need corrective 
action, it is the vendor’s responsibility to notify the City immediately. 
Monthly/Quarterly/Annual inspections will be completed collaboratively with a 
City staff person as the lead. The contractor shall accompany the City on 
inspections upon request by the City or MDEQ.  

Question 31: Will the city make available the existing heavy equipment used at the transfer 
station during start-up of the contract? 

Response 31: No, the proposer must provide their own equipment.  

Question 32: Will city provide a copy of the operations plan for the transfer station as 
incorporated by reference in the construction permit. 

Response 32: Construction Permit 4071 from June 23, 2005 does not reference an operations 
plan. 
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Question 33: How will city evaluate the third party waste credit and the potential for associated 

tonnage? 
Response 33: The City believes that the Transfer Station provides value to the hauling community 

and, potentially, the Contractor, and is therefore willing to allow the Contractor to 
source third-party tonnage (subject to the performance requirements in Section 
II.C of the RFP). The $2.30/ton minimum credit for third- party waste represents 
the City’s depreciation charge for the transfer station, and therefore is a minimum. 
Contractors  may propose a higher commercial waste credit. 
In evaluating competing Fee Proposals, primary weight will be given to the service 
fees proposed by Contractors (i.e., the fees to handle City waste materials). The 
City will also consider the third-party waste credit proposed by Contractors, and 
Contractors may propose a tonnage they are willing to commit to the facility to 
enhance the value proposition of their proposal. 

 
Respondents are responsible for any conclusions that they may draw from the information 
contained in the Addendum. 



 

CITY OF ANN ARBOR  
LIVING WAGE ORDINANCE DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE 

 
The Ann Arbor Living Wage Ordinance (Section 1:811-1:821 of Chapter 23 of Title I of the Code) requires that an 
employer who is (a) a contractor providing services to or for the City for a value greater than $10,000 for any twelve-
month contract term, or (b) a recipient of federal, state, or local grant funding administered by the City for a value 
greater than $10,000, or (c) a recipient of financial assistance awarded by the City for a value greater than $10,000, 
shall pay its employees a prescribed minimum level of compensation (i.e., Living Wage) for the time those employees 
perform work on the contract or in connection with the grant or financial assistance.  The Living Wage must be paid to 
these employees for the length of the contract/program. 
 
Companies employing fewer than 5 persons and non-profits employing fewer than 10 persons are exempt from compliance with the 
Living Wage Ordinance.  If this exemption applies to your company/non-profit agency please check here  [___] No. of employees__ 

 
The Contractor or Grantee agrees: 
 

(a) To pay each of its employees whose wage level is not required to comply with federal, state or local 
prevailing wage law, for work covered or funded by a contract with or grant from the City, no less than the 
Living Wage.  The current Living Wage is defined as $13.13/hour for those employers that provide 
employee health care (as defined in the Ordinance at Section 1:815 Sec. 1 (a)), or no less than 
$14.65/hour for those employers that do not provide health care.  The Contractor or Grantor understands 
that the Living Wage is adjusted and established annually on April 30 in accordance with the Ordinance 
and covered employers shall be required to pay the adjusted amount thereafter to be in compliance 
(Section 1:815(3). 

 

Check the applicable box below which applies to your workforce 
 
[___] Employees who are assigned to any covered City contract/grant will be paid at or above the 

applicable living wage without health benefits 
 
[___] Employees who are assigned to any covered City contract/grant will be paid at or above the 

applicable living wage with health benefits 
 

(b) To post a notice approved by the City regarding the applicability of the Living Wage Ordinance in every 
work place or other location in which employees or other persons contracting for employment are working. 

 
(c) To provide to the City payroll records or other documentation within ten (10) business days from the 

receipt of a request by the City. 
 

(d) To permit access to work sites to City representatives for the purposes of monitoring compliance, and 
investigating complaints or non-compliance. 
 

(e) To take no action that would reduce the compensation, wages, fringe benefits, or leave available to any 
employee covered by the Living Wage Ordinance or any person contracted for employment and covered 
by the Living Wage Ordinance in order to pay the living wage required by the Living Wage Ordinance. 

 
The undersigned states that he/she has the requisite authority to act on behalf of his/her employer in these matters and 
has offered to provide the services or agrees to accept financial assistance in accordance with the terms of the Living 
Wage Ordinance.  The undersigned certifies that he/she has read and is familiar with the terms of the Living Wage 
Ordinance, obligates the Employer/Grantee to those terms and acknowledges that if his/her employer is found to be in 
violation of Ordinance it may be subject to civil penalties and termination of the awarded contract or grant of financial 
assistance. 
 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________________ 
Company Name      Street Address 
 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Representative                              Date City, State, Zip 
 
 
___________________________________________________ ________________________________________________ 
Print Name and Title     Phone/Email address 
 
 
City of Ann Arbor Procurement Office, 734/794-6500, procurement@a2gov.org       Rev. 2/7/17, LW-2 
 
 
 
 



  

  
 

 

RATE EFFECTIVE APRIL 30, 2017 - ENDING APRIL 29, 2018 
 

$13.13 per hour      $14.65 per hour 
  If the employer provides health               If the employer does NOT 
  care benefits*                             provide health care benefits* 

  
Employers providing services to or for the City of Ann Arbor or recipients of grants or 
financial assistance from the City of Ann Arbor for a value of more than $10,000 in a 
twelve-month period of time must pay those employees performing work on a City of 
Ann Arbor contract or grant, the above living wage.  
  
  

ENFORCEMENT  
  
The City of Ann Arbor may recover back wages either administratively or through court 
action for the employees that have been underpaid in violation of the law.  Persons 
denied payment of the living wage have the right to bring a civil action for damages in 
addition to any action taken by the City.  
  
Violation of this Ordinance is punishable by fines of not more than $500/violation plus 
costs, with each day being considered a separate violation. Additionally, the City of 
Ann Arbor has the right to modify, terminate, cancel or suspend a contract in the event 
of a violation of the Ordinance.  
  
  
* Health Care benefits include those paid for by the employer or making an employer contribution toward 
the purchase of health care.  The employee contribution must not exceed $.50 an hour for an average 
work week; and the employer cost or contribution must equal no less than $1/hr for the average work 
week.  

  
The Law Requires Employers to Display This Poster Where Employees Can 
Readily See It.  
 

 
For Additional Information or to File a Complaint Contact  
Colin Spencer at 734/794-6500 or cspencer@a2gov.org 

 
 

Revised 2/7/2017  Rev.0          LW-1 

CITY OF ANN ARBOR  
LIVING WAGE ORDINANCE  
























































































































































































































